FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/5/2019 10:52 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

97297-4

Court of Appeals No. 50894-0-II

WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

CHARLES WOLFE,

Petitioner,

ν.

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

William John Crittenden, #22033 Attorney at Law 12345 Lake City Way NE 306 Seattle, Washington 98125-5401 (206) 361-5972 bill@billcrittenden.com

I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER	
II.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1	
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1	
IV.	INTF	RODUCTION1
V.	STA	ΓEMENT OF THE CASE3
VI.	ARG	UMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED10
	A.	The question of how equitable tolling applies to the one-year statute of limitations on PRA claims is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this court
	B.	The questions of whether the "discovery rule" applies in PRA cases and, if not, why not, are issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court18

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES Belenski v. Jefferson County, 186 Wn.2d 452, Belenski v. Jefferson County, 187 Wn. App. 724, 350 P.3d 689 (2015), rev'd on other grounds, 186 Wn.2d 452 (2016) ...14 Nickum v. City of Bainbridge Island, 153 Wn. App. 366, Nissen v. Pierce County, 183 Wn.2d 863, 357 P.3d 45 (2015).20 Wolfe v. Washington State Department of Transp., **STATUTES** Chap. 42.56 RCWpassim RCW 42.56.550(3)......11 **COURT RULES**

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Charles Wolfe seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner Wolfe seeks review of the *Unpublished Opinion* of the Court of Appeals, Division II, in *Wolfe v. Washington State Department of Transportation*, No. 50894-0-II dated May 7, 2019, a copy of which is attached as **Appendix A**.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the one-year statute of limitations for claims under the Public Records Act, Chap. 42.56 RCW (PRA), should be equitably tolled where an agency fails to perform a reasonable search for records, gives the requestor false assurances that there are no more records, and then relies on its own failure to locate relevant records in order pursue a meritless defense in a related tort case.
- B. Whether the discovery rule applies in PRA cases, and if not, whether the doctrine of equitable tolling should be liberally applied in PRA cases.

IV. INTRODUCTION

In *Belenski v. Jefferson County*, 186 Wn.2d 452, 378 P.3d 176 (2016), this Court settled the issue of how the one-year statute of

limitations for claims under the Public Records Act, RCW 42.56.550(6), applies where an agency has failed to produce all responsive records:

We hold that the one year statute of limitations in the PRA applies to Belenski's claim and that this limitations period usually begins to run on an agency's final, definitive response to a records request. However, we remand this case for the trial court to determine whether equitable tolling should toll the statute of limitations.

Belenski, 186 Wn.2d at 454-455. This holding was based on the Court's recognition that the short statute of limitations in PRA cases must not give agencies an incentive to improperly withhold records:

Belenski and amici raise legitimate concerns that allowing the statute of limitations to run based on an agency's dishonest response could incentivize agencies to intentionally withhold information and then avoid liability due to the expiration of the statute of limitations. On one hand, we recognize that such an incentive could be contrary to the broad disclosure mandates of the PRA and may be fundamentally unfair in certain circumstances; on the other hand, certain facts in this specific case indicate that Belenski knew the County possessed IAL data, yet he inexplicably waited over two years before filing his claim.

Belenski, 186 Wn.2d at 461-62. The Court remanded the issue to the trial court without indicating what the necessary elements of equitable tolling might be in a PRA case. *Id*.

In this case, appellant Charles Wolfe made PRA requests to the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) for records relating to WSDOT's 1986 construction of a bridge that Wolfe believed was causing erosion on his riverfront property. WSDOT failed to conduct

a reasonable search for records, gave Wolfe false assurances that there were no records of more recent WSDOT bridge work, and then relied on its own failure to produce records to pursue a meritless defense in a related tort case. WSDOT finally produced the responsive records after the one-year statute of limitations had elapsed. This was exactly the situation with which *Belenski* was concerned. But the Court of Appeals interpreted *Belenski* very strictly, and held that equitable tolling did not apply to Wolfe's PRA claims against WSDOT.

Wolfe seeks review of the Court of Appeals' interpretation and application of *Belenski* under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Starting in May 2008, Wolfe made a series of PRA requests for records to WSDOT seeking records relating to WSDOT's 1986 construction of the SR4/Naselle River Bridge in Pacific County. Wolfe was concerned that WSDOT's bridge work was causing erosion on his property. *Unpublished Opinion* at 1. In July 2008 Wolfe expanded his request to include any records of any work on the Naselle River Bridge done by WSDOT since 1986. *Id.* at 3. Unknown to Wolfe at the time, WSDOT had worked on the SR 4 bridge much more recently than 1986, having obtained a permit for such work (hereafter the 1998 HPA) from the Department of Fish and Wildlife in 1998. CP 1950-1954.

WSDOT made some records available to Wolfe at its Kelso office in July and August of 2008. It is undisputed that WSDOT failed to produce the responsive 1998 HPA records at that time. *See Unpublished Opinion* at 4. The factual question of which other records were provided is disputed. Wolfe made another PRA request in 2008, which also failed to produce the records he was looking for. *Id.* at 3.

By letter dated September 19, 2008 Wolfe complained to the Washington Attorney General that WSDOT had not adequately researched the cause of the erosion on Wolfe's property. CP 1858-61. In that letter Wolfe specifically threatened to sue WSDOT over the erosion issues. CP 1861; *Unpublished Opinion* at 3.

In June 2010 Wolfe sued WSDOT in Pacific County for property damage as well as violations of the PRA. The PRA claims were dismissed without prejudice on jurisdictional grounds. *Unpublished Opinion* at 3-4.

In July 2011, WSDOT moved to dismiss Wolfe's tort claims in the Pacific County case. CP 2948-2962. WSDOT argued, *inter alia*, that the case should be dismissed because more than 10 years had elapsed between WSDOT's construction of the new bridge in 1986 and Wolfe's claim filed in 2010. WSDOT's motion was explicitly based on WSDOT's

4

¹ Wolfe argues that WSDOT withheld several whole boxes of records from Wolfe. WSDOT argues that all responsive records were made available to Wolfe. *See Unpublished Opinion* at 5.

representation—now known to be *false*— that WSDOT had not worked on the bridge since 1986. CP 2950, 1946-1947; *see Unpublished Opinion* at 4. The Pacific County Superior Court dismissed Wolfe's tort claims. CP 1988. Wolfe appealed that ruling to the Court of Appeals.

In August 2011, a technical expert hired by Wolfe discovered physical evidence that WSDOT has placed large rock rip-rap around the bridge, and that this rip-rap was not shown on the 1986 plans. CP 1752. In September 2011, Wolfe made another PRA request for documents relating to the rip-rap. CP 1754, 1948. In response to this PRA request, on December 2, 2011 WSDOT finally produced records relating to a 1998 permit (1998 HPA) issued to WSDOT by the Department of Fish and Wildlife. CP 1950-1954, 3230. These records indicated that WSDOT had obtained a permit to address erosion by placing rock rip-rap around one of the bridge piers. *Id.* It is undisputed that these records were responsive to Wolfe's 2008 PRA requests. *Unpublished Opinion* at 4. These records demonstrated that, contrary to WSDOT's claims in the tort case, WSDOT had worked on the bridge much more recently than 1986. *Id.*

Wolfe filed this case against WSDOT on May 22, 2012, more than one year after his 2008 PRA requests were closed, but less than six months after WSDOT produced the responsive 1998 HPA records. CP 7-10.

Meanwhile, despite claiming that it did not know about the 1998 HPA until the Fall of 2011, CP 1308, 1525-26, WSDOT never sought to correct its false factual statements, in the Pacific County tort case, that WSDOT had not worked on the SR 4 Bridge since 1986. On the contrary, WSDOT opposed Wolfe's attempts to correct the record. CP 2982. In October 2012, at oral argument on appeal from the dismissal of Wolfe's tort claims, WSDOT's attorney was asked if any work had been done since 1986 and answered "no," which was false. CP 1753; see Unpublished Opinion at 4. On January 29, 2013, the Court of Appeals (Division II) issued its opinion affirming the dismissal of Wolfe's tort claims. CP 1792-1799; Unpublished Opinion at 4.

Meanwhile, in this case, after WSDOT's motion to stay discovery was denied, WSDOT finally made thirteen (13) entire boxes of responsive records available to Wolfe in February 2013. CP 1751, 2648-49. The factual question of whether WSDOT had previously made these boxes available was and is disputed. *Unpublished Opinion* at 5. The trial court denied the parties' dispositive motions in March 2013. CP 1686-87.

The superior court held a hearing on May 1, 2015. No witnesses were called at the hearing, which was based on declarations and the arguments of the parties. CP 2025, 3228. At the hearing WSDOT admitted that it had failed to produce the 1998 HPA records in response to

Wolfe's 2008 PRA requests, but WSDOT argued that it had performed a "reasonable search" for those records. *Unpublished Opinion* at 5. The trial court rejected WSDOT's "reasonable search" argument, and also rejected WSDOT's statute of limitations argument with respect to the 1998 HPA records. CP 3269-3270.

However, the trial court found "sufficient evidence" that all the other records were provided to Wolfe in Kelso in 2008. CP 3270. In addition, the court held that the statute of limitations barred Wolfe's claims for the other records. *Id.* As the Court of Appeals noted, it is unclear how the trial court applied the statute of limitations to some records but not others. *Unpublished Opinion* at 9.

The court's oral ruling on May 1, 2015, was not immediately reduced to a written order. A successor judge (Skinder) declined to revisit Judge Tabor's ruling on the merits. On August 25, 2017, Judge Skinder adopted Judge Tabor's oral ruling, awarded attorney fees to two of three of Wolfe's attorneys, and awarded PRA penalties of \$20 per day for each of the three 1998 HPA records. CP 3228-3297.

On September 1, 2016, more than a year after the show cause hearing on May 1, 2015, this Court issued its opinion in *Belenski*, 186 Wn.2d 452. This Court settled the issue of whether or when the one-year statute of limitations in RCW 42.56.550(6) would apply:

We hold that the one year statute of limitations in the PRA applies to Belenski's claim and that this limitations period usually begins to run on an agency's final, definitive response to a records request. However, we remand this case for the trial court to determine whether equitable tolling should toll the statute of limitations.

Belenski, 186 Wn.2d at 454-455. This holding was based on the Court's recognition that the statute of limitations must not give agencies an incentive to improperly withhold records:

Belenski and amici raise legitimate concerns that allowing the statute of limitations to run based on an agency's dishonest response could incentivize agencies to intentionally withhold information and then avoid liability due to the expiration of the statute of limitations. On one hand, we recognize that such an incentive could be contrary to the broad disclosure mandates of the PRA and may be fundamentally unfair in certain circumstances...

Belenski, 186 Wn.2d at 461-62. Apart from discussing the competing policy implications under the PRA the Court did not indicate what the necessary elements of equitable tolling might be in a PRA case. *Id.* This Court did not cite any cases on the doctrine of equitable tolling. *Id.*

The related issue of whether the "discovery rule" should apply in PRA cases was extensively briefed in *Belenski*.² But this Court did not

8

.

² The discovery rule was addressed in the following briefs in *Belenski: Petition for Review* (8/28/15) at 11-14; *Answer to Petition* (9/30/15) at 12-17; *Supp. Br. of Petitioner* (2/9/16) at 10-16; *Supp. Br. of Respondent* at (2/8/16) 4-11; *Amicus Brief of Allied Daily Newspapers et al.* (3/28/16) at 19-20; *Amicus Brief of WAPA* (4/11/16) at 7-9; *Pet. Answer to Amicus WAPA* (4/27/16) at 15-16; *Resp. Answer to Amicus Allied Daily Newspapers et al.* (4/27/16) at 19 n.4. These briefs are available on this Court's website at http://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate_trial_courts/coaBriefs/index.cfm?fa=coabriefs. briefsByTitle&courtId=A08 (last visited May 23, 2019).

reach that issue, or even mention it in the Court's opinion. *See Belenski*, 186 Wn.2d 452.

In September 2017, Wolfe appealed to the Court of Appeals, and WSDOT cross-appealed. Because this Court's 2016 decision in *Belenski* appeared to preclude the application of the discovery rule in PRA cases—leaving only the doctrine of equitable tolling—Wolfe argued that the statute of limitations was equitably tolled under *Belenski* with respect to all of Wolfe's claims. *App. Br.* at 25-29.³ Wolfe argued, *inter alia*, that

[A]s noted in Belenski, WSDOT had a clear incentive to withhold the records that would have shown that WSDOT worked on the SR 4 Bridge as recently as 1998. WSDOT not only failed to produce these records, but affirmatively relied on their failure to produce these records to argue that Wolfe's claims were barred by a 10-year statute of limitations. CP 2950-2951. Even after WSDOT claimed to have discovered the 1998 Bridge work in the Fall of 2011, WSDOT never corrected the factual record in the Pacific County case, and continued to misstate the facts during the appeal. CP 1753, 2982. This is exactly the situation in which justice requires the application of equitable tolling.

App. Br. at 28. WSDOT argued that equitable tolling was not applicable, and that all of Wolfe's claims were barred by the statute of limitations. Both parties raised additional issues. *See Unpublished Opinion* at 12.

9

³ In the absence of any guidance from *Belenski* opinion Wolfe argued that equitable tolling generally requires (i) bad faith, deception or false assurances by the defendant, and (ii) the exercise of reasonable diligence by the plaintiff. *App. Br.* at 28 (citing *Millay v. Cam*, 135 Wn.2d 193, 206, 955 P.2d 791 (1998)).

The Court of Appeals issued its *Unpublished Opinion* on May 7, 2019, holding that equitable tolling did not apply, and that the one-year statute of limitations barred all of Wolfe's PRA claims. Based, in part, on arguments that WSDOT had made for the first time in its reply brief the Court held:

Wolfe has not shown that the WSDOT had an incentive to "intentionally withhold information," knew these records existed in 2008, or that the WSDOT acted in bad faith or in a deceptive manner.

Unpublished Opinion at 11.

The court did not address the second element of equitable tolling, whether Wolfe exercised diligence in pursuing his claims.⁴ *Id*. Because the court held that all of Wolfe's PRA claims were barred by the statute of limitations the court did not reach any of the other issues in the case. *Id*.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) Wolfe seeks review in this Court.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) a decision of the Court of Appeals warrants further review by this Court where the petition for review raises

-

⁴ On the issue of diligence Wolfe documented his extraordinary efforts to locate the records that he needed for his investigation and litigation relating to the SR4 bridge, and noted that he brought this case less than six months after WSDOT finally produced the 1998 HPA records. *App. Br.* at 29. In response, WSDOT misrepresented Wolfe's September 19, 2008 letter as evidence that Wolfe somehow knew in 2008 that WSDOT had violated the PRA. *Resp. Br.* at 22. In fact that letter requests additional records, demonstrating Wolfe's diligent pursuit of the records, but does *not* contain any allegation that WSDOT has already wrongfully withheld records from Wolfe.

issues of "substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Both the elements of equitable tolling under *Belenski* as well as the uncertain fate of the discovery rule in PRA cases are issues of substantial public importance that should be determined by this Court.

If review is granted there are other issues that may need to be addressed. Although the Court of Appeals did not reach those issues, those issues have been fully briefed. Because the trial court's ruling was made after a hearing based on documentary evidence this Court's review is *de novo*. RCW 42.56.550(3).⁵

A. The question of how equitable tolling applies to the one-year statute of limitations on PRA claims is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this court.

As the Court of Appeals noted, the two basic elements of equitable tolling are: (i) bad faith, deception or false assurances by the defendant, and (ii) the exercise of reasonable diligence by the plaintiff. *Millay v. Cam*, 135 Wn.2d 193, 206, 955 P.2d 791 (1998); *Unpublished Opinion* at 8. But *Millay*, which was not cited in *Belenski*, deals with equitable tolling in a very different context from the present case. *See* 135 Wn.2d at 206 (holding that the statutory redemption period when the redemptioner in possession submits a grossly exaggerated statement of the sum required

11

⁵ In the Court of Appeals Wolfe requested an award of reasonable attorney fees pursuant RCW 42.56.550(4) and RAP 18.1. *See App. Br.* at 34. If review is granted Wolfe will renew his request for attorney fees on appeal.

to redeem). The issue in this case is how the doctrine of equitable tolling should apply to PRA claims where, as here, responsive records are discovered more than one year after an agency closes a PRA request.

The Court of Appeals correctly noted that the plaintiff claiming equitable tolling has the burden of proof. *Unpublished Opinion* at 11 (citing *Nickum v. City of Bainbridge Island*, 153 Wn. App. 366, 379, 223 P.3d 1172 (2009)). Wolfe has never argued otherwise. The issue before both the Court of Appeals and this Court is *what, exactly, is a PRA requestor who asserts equitable tolling required to prove?* That is not a factual question but a legal issue.

The Court of Appeals declined to address the second element of equitable tolling: the requirement that the plaintiff exercise reasonable diligence in pursuing the claim. *Unpublished Opinion* at 8. On the first element, the Court of Appeals held that *Belenski* was distinguishable from this case, and rejected the application of equitable tolling for four reasons:

o that Wolfe had not shown that WSDOT had an incentive to "intentionally withhold information" in 2008,

-

⁶ Wolfe's reply brief noted that WSDOT had failed to respond to Wolfe's argument about equitable tolling, specifically that WSDOT had "failed to explain why equitable tolling should not apply where WSDOT relied on its own failure to locate the 1998 HPA records in order to present a statute of limitations defense in a related lawsuit between Wolfe and WSDOT." *Wolfe Reply Br.* at 13. Wolfe was objecting to WSDOT's failure to properly respond to Wolfe's arguments about the elements of equitable tolling in its response brief. *Id.* The Court of Appeals apparently misunderstood Wolfe's argument as an assertion that WSDOT had the factual burden of proof. *See Unpublished Opinion* at 11.

- o that Wolfe had not shown that WSDOT "knew" the records existed in 2008,
- that WSDOT had not acted in bad faith or in a deceptive manner, and/or
- o that Wolfe would have lost his tort case against WSDOT in any event.

Unpublished Opinion at 11.

First, the court's determination that WSDOT had no *incentive* to withhold records is contrary to the undisputed evidence. WSDOT argued, for the first time in its reply brief,⁷ that WSDOT did not know about Wolfe's tort action in 2008 because Wolfe's tort lawsuit was not actually filed until 2010. *WSDOT Reply Br.* at 5. WSDOT ignored the undisputed fact that Wolfe had *threatened* to sue WSDOT over the erosion issues in a letter dated September 22, 2008, well within the one-year limitation. CP 1770. Unfortunately, the Court of Appeals accepted WSDOT's improper reply argument without realizing that the argument was factually erroneous in light of Wolfe's September 2008 letter.⁸

-

⁷ Wolfe's opening brief explained that WSDOT had an incentive to withhold the records in order to claim, in the tort case, that WSDOT had not worked on the SR4/Naselle bridge since 1986. *App. Br.* at 28. WSDOT failed to directly respond to this argument in its response brief. In addition, WSDOT mischaracterized Wolfe's September 2008 letter, in which Wolfe threatened to sue WSDOT over the SR 4 bridge construction, as a threat to sue WSDOT for PRA violations. *WSDOT Resp. Br.* at 22; CP.1667-1770. Wolfe highlighted WSDOT's lack of response in Wolfe's reply brief, and reminded the Court of Appeals that WSDOT was *not* permitted to make new arguments in its reply brief. *Wolfe Reply. Br.* at 14-15.

⁸ The *Unpublished Opinion* at 3 specifically notes that Wolfe threatened to sue WSDOT in 2008, but ignores that fact in its holding, on page 11, that WSDOT did not know about

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