FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/26/2019 1:55 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97297-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHARLES WOLFE,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent.

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JOSHUA P. WEIR Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 49819 DAVID D. PALAY, JR. Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 50846 P.O. Box 40113 Olympia, WA 98504-0113 (360) 586-5705 OID No. 91028

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Wolfe fails to establish any of the appropriate grounds supporting review by this Court. Wolfe seeks discretionary review solely under RAP 13.4(b)(4) as an issue of "substantial public interest" that should be determined by this Court. Wolfe is mistaken.

This appeal involves a straightforward application of the statute of limitations using clear Supreme Court precedent regarding equitable tolling. The decision below does not conflict with the case law, and the questions of law and public policy that Wolfe identifies have already been addressed by this Court.

A. The Petition for Review Does Not Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined by the Supreme Court

This Court may accept review of a Court of Appeals decision if it involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). There are few cases explaining this standard, but those allowing for review typically involve novel issues and a clear public interest on issues that are widely applicable.

See, e.g., In re Flippo, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413, (mem.)–414 (2016) (review appropriate where it "will avoid unnecessary litigation on an issue of common confusion"); Matter of Arnold, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017) (review of horizontal stare decisis rule among the divisions of the Court of Appeals and removal of an entire class of sex offenders from registration requirements); In re Adoption of T.A.W., 184 Wn.2d 1040, 387 P.3d 636 (2016) (whether state statute implementing the Indian Child Welfare Act applies to non-Indian parents). Wolfe presents no such issue.

Rather, the issues Wolfe presents have already been determined by this Court. To the extent the PRA's one-year statute of limitations is not directly addressed in RCW 42.56.550(6), its operation is further explained in *Belenski*. *Belenski* also clarified that equitable tolling may be available under the PRA, if the facts are present to support it. 186 Wn.2d at 462. The necessary elements of equitable tolling are clearly described in *Millay*. The Court of Appeals applied these uncomplicated principles to this case. Wolfe attempts to complicate matters in order to suggest that this Court should revisit these prior decisions and modify their holdings. This does not satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. Wolfe does not raise a substantial issue of public interest regarding equitable tolling because *Millay* already describes the doctrine

The Court of Appeals applied the test for equitable tolling set forth in *Millay*, requiring the proponent to demonstrate: (1) bad faith, false assurances, or deception by the defendant, and (2) diligence by the plaintiff. 135 Wn.2d at 206. The Court of Appeals determined that Wolfe failed to satisfy the first element for essentially four reasons. Op. at 9-12.

First, the record does not show that WSDOT knew about the rip-rap records in 2008 when it made the final production of records in response to Wolfe's request. Op. at 10. The final response to Wolfe's request occurred on August 12, 2008, after Michelle Ewaniec (Erickson) sent Wolfe the fourth and final installment of records. CP at 1316 (declaration); CP at1466 (letter). Following this, WSDOT closed request PDR 08-0455 on August 13, 2008. CP at 1318. Wolfe knew at that time WSDOT was not going to be providing any further records in response to this request. Op. at 9. Wolfe knew his request had been closed in August 2008 because he sent a letter on September 19, 2008, complaining that "WSDOT has NOT fully complied with my request to research the cause(s) of the erosion activity affecting our property." Op. at 3; CP at 1858. While this portion of the letter does not specifically reference the PRA, it nonetheless

demonstrates Wolfe's belief that WSDOT had not fully complied with his request.²

Second, the Court of Appeals rejected the argument that WSDOT had an "incentive" to withhold records because of another lawsuit Wolfe filed against WSDOT in Pacific County. Op. at 11. This separate lawsuit was filed in 2010 – nearly two years after the last disclosure of records under PDR 08-0455 in 2008. Op. at 10. Thus, WSDOT staff in 2008 would not have known of Wolfe's separate lawsuit and would therefore have no incentive to withhold records from Wolfe. *Id*.

Third, Wolfe argues that counsel for WSDOT made inaccurate statements in this separate case that no other bridge work had been done and that false assurances need not be intentional to invoke equitable tolling. Pet. at 16-17 (citing *State v. Duvall*, 86 Wn. App. 871, 940 P.2d 671 (1997)). But again, WSDOT statements in 2012 could not have – and did not – confuse Wolfe about the status of his public records request back in 2008. This case is therefore critically different from *Duvall*, where the statement at issue actually induced action that made application of the

² Wolfe argues that WSDOT mischaracterized the letter, trying to characterize the letter *solely* as a threat to sue for property damage and not relating to the PRA request. Pet. at 13 n.7. But the actual language of the letter does not make this clear, particularly given the wording of Wolfe's original request as one for information, records, and meetings about the cause of erosion. CP at 1858-61 (letter dated September 19, 2018); CP at 1839-41 (original correspondence from May 2008, designated as PDR 08-0455). Moreover, the letter was just one piece of evidence in the record that the Court of Appeals considered.

statute of limitations inequitable. *Duvall*, 86 Wn. App. at 875.³ Additionally, the *Duvall* case specifically stated that mere "excusable neglect" was not sufficient to allow for equitable tolling. *Id*. Consequently, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected Wolfe's argument that WSDOT's actions in 2010 and 2012 should excuse his failure to file this lawsuit in 2009. Op. at 11.⁴

Fourth, and most importantly, the superior court found that WSDOT had made an "honest attempt to try to comply with the Public Records Act," thereby explicitly rejecting Wolfe's assertions of bad acts by WSDOT. Op. at 10; CP at 3346. Although the superior court did not need to reach the elements of equitable tolling at that time, it nonetheless disagreed with Wolfe's arguments that WSDOT had acted in bad faith.

It's been stated to me a number of times in various pleadings by the petitioner that the State lied when they said that they didn't have - - that there was no other project. And then they find out that there was a project. Well, I don't think that they knew that there was another project. And when they learned that there was this rip rap project, they did turn that over. I

³ Mr. Duvall's attorney incorrectly stated that his client "agreed" to a restitution order, and based on this, the sentencing court entered the order outside of his presence. *Duvall*, 86 Wn. App. at 875. It was not until after the 60-day time period for entering a restitution order had passed that Mr. Duvall objected, the prior order was set aside, and a new one entered. *Id.* at 873. Thus, the circumstances supported equitable tolling to allow the second restitution order. *Id.* at 876.

⁴ Wolfe also argues that his threats of litigation in 2008 were sufficient to create an incentive to withhold records. Pet. at 13. A state agency like WSDOT receives threats of litigation almost daily. If every threat of litigation, no matter how remote, triggered equitable tolling, the statute of limitations would virtually never apply.

don't believe that that's evidence that there was a purposeful lie, but I don't guess that's before me today, either.

CP at 3348.⁵

Based upon these factual findings and the other evidence in the record, the Court of Appeals determined that Wolfe had failed to show the kind of bad faith, deception, or false assurances necessary to invoke equitable tolling. Op. at 12. This is a straightforward application of *Millay* and the equitable tolling doctrine which does not warrant review by this Court.

2. It is Wolfe's view of equitable tolling, not the Court of Appeals decision, that is out of step with precedent

Wolfe argues that this case presents a substantial issue of public interest in clarifying how equitable tolling applies in PRA cases. Pet. at 11-18. Equitable tolling is a doctrine that "should be used sparingly and [that] does not extend broadly to allow claims to be raised except under narrow circumstances." *In re Bonds*, 165 Wn.2d 135, 141, 196 P.3d 672 (2008). 6 This Court has applied the same rule from *Millay* for tolling in both

⁵ In the penalty proceeding, the superior court similarly found that "the department did appear to be helpful in the sense of trying to comply. The efforts the department made to search and to provide access to records that were responsive to Mr. Wolfe's request were substantial; however, clearly these three records were missed." CP at 3364.

⁶ The dissent in *Bonds* referenced the test stated by the U.S. Supreme Court, which allows for equitable tolling when the proponent can show "(1) that he has been pursuing his rights diligently, and (2) that some extraordinary circumstance stood in his way." *Bonds*, 165 Wn.2d at 146 (Sanders, J., dissenting) (quoting *Pace v. DiGuglielmo*, 544 U.S. 408, 418, 125 S. Ct. 1807, 161 L. Ed. 2d 669 (2005)). Wolfe can hardly say that some extraordinary circumstance stood in his way regarding this case.

civil and criminal cases, allowing it only when the predicate elements are met and justice requires, usually because of some kind of malfeasance. *See Bonds*, 165 Wn.2d at 141-42; *Trotzer v. Vig*, 149 Wn. App. 594, 606, 203 P.3d 1056 (2009) (single false statement in a letter without evidence of bad faith or deception was not sufficient to invoke equitable tolling). Given the superior court's finding that WSDOT had made an honest attempt to comply with the PRA, *Millay* and the equitable tolling doctrine would need to be severely strained in order to accommodate Wolfe's claims.

While Wolfe makes lengthy arguments and citation to dicta from *Belenski* to argue that operation of the statute of limitations should not incentivize agencies to intentionally withhold information, none of these policy arguments provide the missing facts that would justify tolling in this case. Further, unlike *Belenski*, the superior court already made factual findings that WSDOT personnel did <u>not</u> know about the undisclosed documents in 2008 and did <u>not</u> purposefully lie to Wolfe. CP at 3348. Thus, there is no need to remand for this determination as there was in *Belenski*. Further, Wolfe's policy arguments about deterring intentional withholdings by agencies are pure conjecture here where the superior court explicitly found there was <u>not</u> an intentional withholding. Despite his arguments, Wolfe has shown little more than a *hypothetical* incentive to withhold documents. This situation is virtually indistinguishable from any other

inadvertent non-disclosure of records, where records were missed after a substantial, good faith search. Allowing tolling on these facts would only undermine the statute of limitations set out by the Legislature, encourage untimely filing, and "unjustifiably expand the narrow equitable tolling exception." *Bonds*, 165 Wn.2d at 143. This Court should decline Wolfe's invitation.

3. This Court should decline to address the discovery rule based on the record

The Court of Appeals declined to directly address the application of the discovery rule to Wolfe's claims, noting that Wolfe had apparently abandoned or conceded this issue on appeal. Op. at 9. However, the Court of Appeals noted that the discovery rule normally applies when the statute does not specify a time at which a cause of action accrues; that the PRA does specify such a time as stated by *Belenski*; and that no Washington courts appear to have applied the discovery rule in the context of the PRA. Op. at 8. This Court should decline to address the discovery rule issue that Wolfe did not adequately raise and which the Court of Appeals did not directly address.

Moreover, Wolfe's policy arguments about the inequity of what he terms as a "strict" operation of the statute of limitations are largely hyperbolic. The logic underlying the traditional discovery rule is to protect

against the kind of "grave injustice" that can sometimes result from literal application of a statute of limitations. *Gazija v. Nicholas Jerns Co.*, 86 Wn.2d 215, 220, 543 P.2d 338 (1975). This potential for injustice is not present to the same extent in PRA cases. These actions are not like a tort suit where the statute of limitations can deprive an injured plaintiff of his or her only opportunity for recovery. In PRA actions, a requester need only resubmit the request in order to either obtain access to the records or revive his or her claim and start the clock running anew. Here for instance, Wolfe resubmitted a new request and received the three rip-rap records at issue in 2011. Thus, there is not the same kind of grave inequity in applying the statute of limitations in this context as Wolfe argues.

B. This Court Should Reject Wolfe's Suggestions that Additional Unspecified Issues Militate in Favor of Review

Wolfe makes reference to various unspecified issues he believes "may need to be addressed" if this Court were to grant review. Pet. at 11. He also implies that there are still factual disputes on issues that have long since been determined. Compare Pet. at 4, 6 (suggesting that the number of records available for inspection and copying is still disputed), with CP at 3343 (Superior court stating: "I am finding that the State has

⁷ For example, this Court first adopted the discovery rule for medical malpractice claims where a plaintiff alleged a surgeon had negligently left a surgical sponge in her abdomen, which remained there for 22 years. *Ruth v. Dight*, 75 Wn.2d 660, 667, 453 P.2d 631 (1969), *superseded by statute*, RCW 4.16.350.

presented sufficient evidence through the declarations of various parties that the documents were present at the time the review took place by Mr. Wolfe in a number of boxes."). This Court should decline Wolfe's invitation to grant review based on issues that have not been fairly presented. RAP 13.7(b).

Similarly, Wolfe takes the opportunity to paint WSDOT in the worst possible light to bolster his bad faith allegations and skew equity in his favor. For example, Wolfe chides both WSDOT and the Court of Appeals for what he describes as adopting "arguments that WSDOT had made for the first time in its reply brief." Pet. at 10. This refers to the argument that WSDOT would not have had an incentive to withhold information that it did not know existed in 2008. *Id.* Op. at 11. Wolfe neglects to explain that this argument is in strict reply to the "incentive" arguments in his briefing. This was a fair argument and this Court should not credit Wolfe's characterizations towards his request for review.

V. CONCLUSION

The Petition for Review fails to present sufficient grounds to warrant review by this Court under RAP 13.4. The record is clear that on

⁸ See Reply Brief of Appellant/Cross-Respondent at 12, 14 (arguing about WSDOT's alleged incentive to withhold records); Reply Brief of Respondent/Cross-Appellant at 5-6 (arguing that "this 'incentive' cannot be true because of its own incongruent timing").

August 13, 2008, Wolfe's request for public records was closed by WSDOT and Wolfe was well aware of that fact. Wolfe did not file this lawsuit claiming violation of the PRA until 2012. The Court of Appeals correctly decided that Wolfe failed to justify the untimely filing of his lawsuit because he has not shown bad acts by WSDOT to justify equitable tolling of the statute of limitations. Accordingly, the Petition for Review should be denied.